

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Kuchinke, Björn A.; Zerth, Jürgen; Wiese, Nadine

Working Paper Spatial competition between health care providers: effects of standardization

Diskussionspapier, No. 66

Provided in Cooperation with: Ilmenau University of Technology, Institute of Economics

Suggested Citation: Kuchinke, Björn A.; Zerth, Jürgen; Wiese, Nadine (2009) : Spatial competition between health care providers: effects of standardization, Diskussionspapier, No. 66, Technische Universität Ilmenau, Institut für Volkswirtschaftslehre, Ilmenau

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/29657

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU

th

Diskussionspapier Nr. 66

Spatial Competition between Health Care Providers: Effects of Standardization

Björn A. Kuchinke, Jürgen Zerth und Nadine Wiese

Oktober 2009

Institut für Volkswirtschaftslehre

Ehrenbergstraße 29 Ernst-Abbe-Zentrum D-98 684 Ilmenau Telefon 03677/69-4030/-4032 Fax 03677/69-4203

http://www.wirtschaft.tu-ilmenau.de

ISSN 0949-3859

Authors:

Björn A. Kuchinke, Ilmenau University of Technology, 98693 Ilmenau, Germany, bjoern.kuchinke@tu-ilmenau.de Jürgen Zerth, University of Bayreuth, 95440 Bayreuth, Germany, juergen.zerth@unibayreuth.de

Nadine Wiese, Ilmenau University of Technology, 98693 Ilmenau, Germany,

nadine.wiese@tu-ilmenau.de

Abstract

In the international health care literature there is a broad discussion on impacts of competition in health care markets. But aspects of standardization in regional health care markets with no price competition received comparatively little attention. We use a typical Hotelling-framework (reference case) to analyze a regional health care market with two health care providers competing in (vertical) quality after the scope of medical treatment is set (horizontal quality). We conclude, that in the reference case both health care provider will use vertical quality to separate from each other. In the next step (standardization case) we introduce one health care provider to be the standard leader in vertical quality. In the standardization case a more homogeneous supply can be expected. But, there is a higher possibility that the standard follower has to leave the regional health care market.

Contents

1	Introduction Regional Health Care Markets			2 3
2				
3	Model of Quality Competition			4
	3.1	Basic	Model	4
		3.1.1	Demand for Health Care	4
		3.1.2	Supply of Health Care	6
		3.1.3	Optimal Vertical Quality	7
		3.1.4	Optimal Horizontal Quality	8
	3.2	Quality Competition in the Regional Health Care Market		10
		3.2.1	Reference Case	10
		3.2.2	Standardization and the Impact on Competition	12
		3.2.3	Impact of Regulation on Health Care Provider 1	13
		3.2.4	Impact of Regulation on Health Care Provider 2	14
4	Con	Conclusion and Outlook 1		16
\mathbf{A}	Appendix			19
	A.1	Vertica	al Quality	19
	A.2	Horizo	ontal Quality	20
	A.3	The R	eference Case: Provider 2	21

1 Introduction

The international literature has devoted much attention to the analysis of competition in health care markets (see for example Dranove and Satterthwaite (2000); Gaynor and Vogt (2000)). In this context, most authors focus on horizontal competition (cf. Dranove and Satterthwaite (2000); Gaynor and Haas-Wilson (1998); Pauly (1998)). Limited attention has been paid to standardization effects and horizontal competition within a regional health care market. Nevertheless, in many health care systems there is a tendency to enforce standardization in inpatient as well as outpatient care. As this has direct impacts on the competition environment within a regional health care market these effects are modeled in this paper.

In this paper we analyse spatial competition between two health care providers. We elaborate the relationship between two health care providers and the market performance with and without standardization. For this, we will develop an expanded Hotelling-model in two steps:

In the first step we analyse quality choice. We allow the suppliers to choose their location, their scope of treatments and the quality of treatments being offered. In the following we use the term *horizontal quality* when we focus on the choice of location and scope of treatments.¹ We use the term *vertical quality* when we analyse the quality of treatments being offered. We call this first step the reference case.

In the second step we introduce standardization, e.g. a standard of vertical quality for treatments in the regional health care market. We call this case the standardization case. The standard could be the result of a benchmark process initiated by the regulator or a cost payer (insurance company). This means, we assume that a third party is able to observe the vertical qualities and to prescribe the higher quality as a standard. This standard is binding for all health care suppliers, even those whose optimal quality is lower. A typical backwards induction model will be employed. We show that the health care provider with lower costs for producing vertical quality is the standard leader. The other one is the standard follower. In this scenario we focus on the effects of vertical quality standardization.

The paper is organized as follows: Section 2 describes the typical characteristics of a regional health care market. Section 3.1 introduces the basic model of spatial competition. The model is expanded in section 3.2 to include a standardization process in the regional health care market. Section 4 summarizes our findings and outlines their implications for further research.

¹This means we have two possible interpretations for horizontal quality.

2 Regional Health Care Markets

For the discussion it is necessary to define the conditions and restrictions outpatient (physicians) and inpatient (hospitals) health care providers face within the regional market. In a typical patient-physician-situation, patient's primary demand is directed to a physician who diagnoses the patient and makes the first treatment decisions. For more severe illnesses the patient will be referred to a higher equipped health care provider for appropriate care. This can be an outpatient specialist or a hospital. For the sake of simplicity we assume that the patient is free to choose between health care providers, i.e. we do not differentiate between inpatient and outpatient care. In contrast to other markets, prices in health care markets are regularly set by a regulator or the third payer (insurance).² This strengthens the relevance of competition in quality.

In the tradition of industrial economics, we distinguish between vertical quality and horizontal quality. Patient's preferences for vertical quality are uniformly ranked, i.e. all patients prefer a higher vertical quality. Consequently, all patients are better off when the level of medical quality health care provider 1 offers rises.³

Horizontal quality on the other hand refers to characteristics, where the optimal choice depends on the characteristics of the consumer. In the case of health care providers location or the range of treatments offered can be considered as horizontal quality variables. Patients which are closer to health care provider 1 have less opportunity costs than those located closer to the other one. In contrast to a rise in vertical quality a rise in horizontal quality does not necessarily constitute a pareto improvement. Consumers, whose optimal horizontal quality was close to the offered horizontal quality before the change, may face a pronounced decline in utility as the deviation between their desired quality and the quality offered increases. Consumers, whose preferences are now better aligned with market quality, on the other hand, gain in utility (cf. Shy (1995)).

For the purpose of this paper we regard it as impractical to treat horizontal differentiation only as the choice of location, like the Hotelling-model does. Once chosen horizontal quality is necessarily fixed for the time being. Therefore, the only remaining choice concernes vertical quality. We propose to look at the range of treatments offered instead and interpret increased horizontal quality as a larger (and therefore less specialized) scope of treatments offered by a particular health care provider.

 $^{^{2}}$ We will therefore treat prices as fixed in this paper.

³The same argument applies to health care provider 2.

3 Model of Quality Competition

3.1 Basic Model

A simple model of a regional health care market can be derived from the papers of Glazer and McGuire (1993) or Montefiori (2005). Considering the results of Gravelle (1999) and Calem and Rizzo (1995) we use the approach of the spatial competition literature to model the effects of standardization. This should provide a good intuition for the probable consequences of the implementation of a new form of standardized care.

Brekke, Nutscheler, and Staume (2006) develop a specific model that combines ideas of spatial competition in the tradition of Hotelling (1929) with quality competition. This is our point of reference in this paper.⁴ Like them we employ a two-stage model of health care provision with fixed prices. In the first stage, each health care provider decides on horizontal quality. He selects his range of treatments offered.⁵ After the decision on horizontal differentiation at the first stage, the health care providers compete by choosing the quality of care they provide in the second stage, i.e. by choosing a level of vertical quality.

3.1.1 Demand for Health Care

As a first step we model patient's demand for health care. We follow Hotelling's idea of a linear city^6 and assume rational consumers with perfect and complete information about all relevant parameters.

The term a_i denotes the absolute position of the health care provider i on the [0, 1] interval.⁷ We assume health care provider 1 is located left within the spectrum and health care provider 2 is located right $(a_1 \in [0; 0.5-\epsilon] \text{ and } a_2 \in [0.5+\epsilon; 1])$. Hence, we assume there is a perceivable horizontal quality difference so that patient's location or need for a specific treatment will generally direct them to one of the providers, i.e. the average patient is not indifferent between health care providers but has a decided preference for one.

⁴In contrast to Brekke, Nutscheler, and Staume (2006) we do not attempt to find an optimal reimbursement scheme or the reimbursement level that will maximize welfare.

⁵Interested readers are referred to Robinson and Casalino (1996) and Gal-Or (1999) for an in depth discussion of this topic.

 $^{^6\}mathrm{The}$ presentation of the basic model follows Tirole (1988): 96 ff.

 $^{{}^{7}}a_{i}$ stands for the chosen location in the spatial interpretation. In the service differentiation case it denotes the range of treatments offered.

Demand for a (specific) unit of health care h_l is assumed to be independently identically distributed on the [0; 1] interval.⁸ In addition to horizontal quality we consider vertical quality in the standard of care for any given treatment, which is described by the parameter q_k .

The variable costs for crossing the distance to a regional provider are borne by the patient. They are assumed to be constant and denoted by t. As we have noted before, within the model p_m , the price for medical treatment, is independent of the scope of medical treatment and the vertical quality offered. Now, we additionally assume p_m is regulated and fix for all health care providers.⁹

Similar to Brekke, Nutscheler, and Staume (2006) each patient faces the following objective:

$$L^{A}(h, q_{k}, p_{m}) = \bar{u} + q_{k} - t \cdot (h_{l} - a_{i})^{2} - p_{m}$$
(3.1)

To maximize his utility, the patient has to decide whether health care provider 1 or health care provider 2 are entitled to treat him.¹⁰ We assume, that net utility is always positive, even for the lowest vertical quality possible. The whole market is always covered and for a regulated price p_m which is equal for all patients. Each consumer demands one unit of the good as we assume that a second unit does not offer additional utility. The indifferent patient between the both health care providers has the location \bar{h} which is the solution to:

$$q_1 - t(\bar{h} - a_1)^2 = q_2 - t(a_2 - \bar{h})^2$$
(3.2)

The result allows us to denote the position h in the linear city. Both health care providers face the same indifferent patient. Consequently, health care provider one's demand y_1 is the fraction of the market just up to the marginal consumer \bar{h} .

$$\bar{h} = \frac{q_2 - q_1}{2t(a_1 - a_2)} + \frac{a_1 + a_2}{2}$$
(3.3)

For the other health care provider $y_2 = 1 - \bar{h}$ holds.

For the non-spatial case there is an intuitive interpretation of this variable. If \bar{h} is high, a substantial part of patients choose health care providers offering a wide

⁸Differences between h_l and a_i represent a quality mismatch. Opportunity costs are the costs consumers face because the range of treatments offered by a given medical care provider does not exactly match their preferences (cf. Shy (1995) and can be computed by multiplying the actual mismatch with a cost parameter t).

⁹As we assume all patients are insured, they do not face variable costs of treatment. Effects on insurance premia are either non existent or not perceptible for patients. It is important to note that this price for treatment is not identical with hospital remuneration which we will denote later by \bar{p} .

¹⁰The model is limited to selective medical treatments a patient can anticipate and plan.

range of treatments. If \bar{h} is low, the majority prefers treatment by providers with a lower degree of horizontal quality a_i , i.e. by providers who specialize in a small number of treatments.

We split expression (3.3) into three parts:¹¹

$$\bar{h} = \underbrace{(q_2 - q_1)}_{\text{vertical quality difference}} \cdot \underbrace{\frac{1}{2t(a_1 - a_2)}}_{\text{degree of competition}} + \underbrace{\frac{a_1 + a_2}{2}}_{\text{average horizontal quality}}$$
(3.4)

The position of \bar{h} , the marginal consumer, depends on vertical quality difference, the degree of competition and average horizontal quality. We are particularly interested in the degree of competition. From the second term over braces we infer that the degree of competition rises when t low and/or the gap between a_1 and a_2 is small, i.e. there is little differentiation in horizontal quality.

3.1.2 Supply of Health Care

Taking health care provider 1 as our representative producer in a world with two health care providers, we get the following profit function:

$$\Pi_1 = (\bar{p} - c_1) \cdot y_1 - \left(\varphi_1 \cdot \frac{q_1^2}{2}\right) - C_1^F$$
(3.5)

We set \bar{p} for the regulated price all health care suppliers face. We suppose that reimbursements cover costs, i.e. that $c_n \leq \bar{p}$ is valid. If reimbursements do not cover costs there will be no voluntary supply, consequently, this case is irrelevant in a market economy.¹² The parameter c_n signifies the variable cost of a treatment while C_n^F denotes fixed cost. The variable costs occur if the the minimum level of quality ($\varphi_0 = 0$) is provided. The costs φ_0 for producing higher vertical quality q_k are supposed to be convex.¹³ Costs for a given level of vertical quality are therefore a combination of the variable costs for the provision of basic quality and a higher vertical quality cost increment.

There are already a few very straightforward results to be derived from this profit function. Profit can only be positive, if reimbursements exceed variable costs $(\bar{p} > c_1)$ and rises with the difference between these two variables. Variable cost

¹¹Cf. Pfähler and Wiese (2006): 244.

¹²The case where this condition is not met presents us with an argument against insufficiently high reimbursements, as these could lead to low levels of quality and a sub-optimally narrow range of treatments. Interested readers are referred to Newhouse (1996) and Pope (1989).

 $^{^{13}}K(q_k) = \varphi \frac{q^2}{2}$. See Brekke, Nutscheler, and Staume (2006): 212.

for vertical quality φ_1 and fixed costs C_1^F have a negative impact on profits. These results are general and do not depend on the specifications of the model.

Substituting the results derived in (3.3) into the profit function we get:

$$\Pi_1 = (\bar{p} - c_1) \cdot \left(\frac{q_2 - q_1}{2t(a_1 - a_2)} + \frac{a_1 + a_2}{2}\right) - \left(\varphi_1 \cdot \frac{q_1^2}{2}\right) - C_1^F$$
(3.6)

Now we analyze the effects of decisions on vertical and horizontal quality. We know, that provider 1 has a smaller a_i than provider 2, therefore the first term within the brackets can only be positive if $q_1 > q_2$. Provider 1, the provider with the smaller range of treatments offered in the non-spatial interpretation, has an incentive to offer higher vertical quality, because this increases his profits. If he offers a lower vertical quality, the difference in horizontal quality between providers will lower his profits in comparison to the case where both providers offer homogenous goods. For this vertical quality distribution, profits for a provider with the higher vertical quality rise, the smaller the difference in horizontal quality (a_1-a_2) and the smaller transport costs t are. Consequently, there is an incentive to diversify horizontally for this provider.

3.1.3 Optimal Vertical Quality

In the standard case we assume that both health care providers offer different levels of vertical quality. The first order condition for the profit-maximizing quality q_1 is:

$$\frac{\partial \Pi_1}{\partial q_1} = -\frac{\bar{p} - c_1}{2t(a_1 - a_2)} - q_1 \cdot \varphi_1 = 0 \tag{3.7}$$

As we have assumed that $a_1 < a_2$ the above equation only holds if $\bar{p} \ge c_1$. Otherwise the first order condition for a profit-maximum would not be satisfied, as $\Pi_1 < 0$. Profit-maximizing vertical quality¹⁴ can be written as:

$$q_1^* = \frac{-\bar{p} + c_1}{2t(a_1 - a_2)\varphi_1} \tag{3.8}$$

Comparative static for optimal quality yield for $a_1 < a_2$:¹⁵

$$\frac{dq_1^*}{da_1} = \frac{\bar{p} - c_1}{2t(a_1 - a_2)^2 \cdot \varphi_1} \tag{3.9}$$

¹⁴The second-order condition is negative $\left(\frac{\partial^2 \Pi_1}{\partial q_1^2} = -\varphi_0\right)$. ¹⁵For the discussion of health care provider 2 cf. Appendix A.1. This equation tells us, that there is an inverse relation between horizontal and vertical quality for health care provider 1. If a_1 rises and therefore c.p. approaches $a_2 q_1$ rises. The closer the offers of the health care providers are, the higher the incentive of the provider with the smaller range of treatments to offer a high vertical quality. The implication of this relationship can be expressed in everyday words: The further apart the health care providers are, the lower the quality they will probably offer.

Comparing this result with the impact of a_2 gives:

$$\frac{dq_1^*}{da_2} = -\frac{\bar{p} - c_1}{2t(a_1 - a_2)^2 \cdot \varphi_1} \tag{3.10}$$

An increase in the (horizontal quality) distance between the two health care providers increases provider 1's incentive to offer a high level of vertical quality.

$$\frac{dq_1^*}{dt} = \frac{\bar{p} - c_1}{2t^2 \cdot (a_1 - a_2) \cdot \varphi_1} \tag{3.11}$$

The incentive to provide quality is negatively related to t, the parameter denoting transport cost or the cost of quality mismatch for patients. This is plausible, as competition from other health care providers is lower when opportunity costs (the product of the actual distance/quality mismatch and the cost parameter) are high. If travelling has a higher negative impact on utility than putting up with lower vertical quality, people will stay with their local health care provider and the provider chooses his quality accordingly.

$$\frac{dq_1^*}{dc_1} = \frac{1}{2t(a_1 - a_2) \cdot \varphi_1} < 0 \tag{3.12}$$

As $a_1 < a_2$ is true per definition, the impact of an increase in c_1 is to lower the level of vertical quality. Costs directly reduce profit and consequently reduce the incentive to compete via higher quality.

$$\frac{dq_1^*}{d\varphi_1} = -\frac{q_1}{\varphi_1} < 0 \tag{3.13}$$

The above equation shows that the negative relationship between costs and quality is not only true for the cost of treatment, but also for the costs of quality improvements φ_o . Again, a reduction of profits lowers the incentive to compete for them via higher vertical quality.

3.1.4 Optimal Horizontal Quality

When determining optimal horizontal quality a_i for each health care provider we have to keep in mind that $a_1 < a_2$ is true per definition. In other words, for provider

1 an increase in a_1 would reduce differentiation between providers, whereas an increase in a_2 would c.p. induce a greater distance. Backwards induction stipulates both health care providers to choose an optimal level of q_k^* when determining optimal horizontal quality a_1 . Inserting q_k^* into equation (3.6) gives us the new profit function:

$$\Pi_1 = (\bar{p} - c_1) \cdot \left(\frac{q_2^* - q_1^*}{2t(a_1 - a_2)} + \frac{(a_1 + a_2)}{2}\right) - \left(\varphi_1 \cdot \frac{q_1^*}{2}\right) - C_F$$
(3.14)

The implicit optimal value of a_1 considering the first order condition is:

$$\frac{\partial \Pi_1}{\partial a_1} = (\bar{p} - c_1) \cdot \left[\frac{1}{2} - \frac{q_2^* - q_1^*}{2t(a_1 - a_2)^2} - \frac{1}{2t(a_1 - a_2)} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial q_2^*}{\partial a_1} - \frac{\partial q_1^*}{\partial a_1} \right) - \varphi_1 \cdot q_1^* \cdot \frac{\partial q_1^*}{\partial a_1} \right] = 0$$
(3.15)

We expect that the optimal level of a_1 and a_2 will equal the extreme values within the range $a_i \in [0, 1]$ resulting in maximum differentiation in horizontal quality. But we can directly infer from the implicit function used beyond that this assumption only holds for no difference in vertical quality. As soon as there is a difference in vertical quality, the health care provider, which is in a quality leading position may be able to reduce his horizontal differentiation.

Looking at the marginal differentiation of both profit functions we can infer that $\frac{\partial \Pi_1}{\partial a_1} < 0$ and $\frac{\partial \Pi_2}{\partial a_2} > 0$ holds.¹⁶ Considering health care provider 1 we observe that the second derivative is also negative which means that there is a local profit maximum at the left side of the range $a_1 \in [0, 1]$.¹⁷ We can can assume a reaction function for the optimal values a_i^* :¹⁸

$$a_1^* = f(a_2) \text{ and } a_2^* = f(a_1)$$
 (3.16)

Looking at the sign of the reaction functions we argue that $\frac{\partial a_1^*(a_2)}{\partial a_2} > 0$ and vice versa. Hence, considering the constraint $a_1 < a_2$ and with respect to the equation we formulate the following: Given one health care provider has set his horizontal quality, the other health care provider will set his horizontal quality contingent on the given level of a_i . From what we have seen above we conclude, that horizontal quality a_i is an important parameter for the competitors.

 $^{^{16}}$ Cf. Appendix (A.10).

¹⁷Cf. Appendix (A.2) Although it might be interesting to consider quality choice by a provider, who is not able to choose his location freely in view of existing regulations. The scope of this paper is limited and we have to refrain from discussing that particular topic.

 $^{^{18}\}mathrm{For}$ the explicit solution cf. Appendix (A.10).

3.2 Quality Competition in the Regional Health Care Market

3.2.1 Reference Case

In the reference case we employ the assumption of the basic case where each health care provider sets its own vertical quality q_k . Now we want to discuss the values for a_i via backwards induction. We concentrate on horizontal quality and the impact on competition if both health care providers assume that the other health care provider acts simultaneously. The profit function of health care provider 1 is:

$$\Pi_1 = (\bar{p} - c_1) \cdot \left(\frac{(a_1 + a_2)}{2} + \frac{q_2^* - q_1^*}{2t(a_1 - a_2)}\right) - \left(\varphi_1 \cdot \frac{q_1^{*^2}}{2}\right) - C_F$$
(3.17)

Considering the first order condition, the following holds:

$$\frac{\partial \Pi_1}{\partial a_1} = (\bar{p} - c_1) \cdot \left[\frac{1}{2} - \frac{q_2^* - q_1^*}{2t(a_1 - a_2)^2} - \frac{1}{2t(a_1 - a_2)} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial q_2^*}{\partial a_1} - \frac{\partial q_1^*}{\partial a_1} \right) - \varphi_1 \cdot q_1^* \cdot \frac{\partial q_1^*}{\partial a_1} \right] = 0$$
(3.18)

Now we discuss the impact of a change of a_2 on a_1 from the perspective of health care provider 1. The analysis encompasses comparative static for the optimal level for a_1 (stage one). As we cannot directly infer the marginal effects for the first stage, we use the optimal level of q_k and the marginal effects (stage two).¹⁹ Following the first-order condition for vertical quality, we compare the results for both health care providers at the second stage:

$$q_1^* = \frac{-\bar{p} + c_1}{2t(a_1 - a_2)\varphi_1} \text{ for health care provider 1}$$

$$q_2^* = \frac{-\bar{p} + c_2}{2t(a_1 - a_2)\varphi_2} \text{ for health care provider 2}$$
(3.19)

For $q_1^* > q_2^*$ the following must be true:

$$q_1^* \equiv \frac{-\bar{p} + c_1}{2t(a_1 - a_2)\varphi_1} > q_2^* \equiv \frac{-\bar{p} + c_2}{2t(a_1 - a_2)\varphi_2}$$
(3.20)

• if $\varphi_2 > \varphi_1$ and $c_1 = c_2$ is valid or

¹⁹In the following we concentrate on health care provider 1. The results for the other health care provider are to be found in Appendix A.3.

- if $\varphi_2 = \varphi_1$ and $c_1 < c_2$ is valid or
- if $\varphi_1 > \varphi_2$ and $c_2 >> c_1$ can be assumed

Under the described circumstances competition will always result in a higher vertical quality for the health care provider with the lower a_i .

A change of horizontal quality of health care provider 2 leads to:

$$\frac{da_1^*}{da_2} = \frac{6c_2\varphi_1 - 3c_1\varphi_2 + \bar{p} \cdot (-6\varphi_1 + 3\varphi_2)}{4c_2\varphi_1 - c_1\varphi_2 + \bar{p} \cdot (-4\varphi_1 + \varphi_2)}$$
(3.21)

Looking at the fraction, we argue that the sign depends on the relationship between c_i and φ_i . For symmetric variable cost the sign of the numerator and the denominator will be dominated by \bar{p} , therefore $\frac{da_1^*}{da_2} > 0.2^0$ We therefore conclude that a negative change in horizontal quality of health care provider 2 incites health care provider 1 to reduce his horizontal quality given one of the cost parameters (φ_0 or c_n) are equal.

This sheds light on the conditions that could be relevant for different qualities q_k if horizontal quality is set. Therefore, the decision for the horizontal quality at stage one is taken in view of the capabilities for producing vertical quality.

The influence of the variable costs c_1 can be described as follows:

$$\frac{da_1^*}{dc_1} = \frac{(a_1 - a_2) \cdot (a_2\varphi_0 + c_2\varphi_1 - \bar{p} \cdot (\varphi_1 - 2\varphi_2) - 2c_1\varphi_2)}{((\bar{p} - c_1) \cdot (-4c_2\varphi_1 + \bar{p} \cdot (4\varphi_1 - \varphi_2) + c_1\varphi_2))} \\
+ \frac{(a_1 - a_2) \cdot (-2t^2a_1^3\varphi_1\varphi_2 + 6t^2a_2\varphi_1\varphi_2)}{((\bar{p} - c_1) \cdot (-4c_2\varphi_1 + \bar{p} \cdot (4\varphi_1 - \varphi_2) + c_1\varphi_2))} \\
+ \frac{(a_1 - a_2) \cdot (2t^2a_2^3\varphi_1\varphi_2 - a_1\varphi_1 \cdot (1 + 6t^2a_2^2\varphi^2))}{(\bar{p} - c_1) \cdot (-4c_2\varphi_1 + \bar{p} \cdot (4\varphi_1 - \varphi_2) + c_1\varphi_2))}$$
(3.22)

The sign of the fraction is not directly clear. Hence, we use the following assumption to get an idea of the relationship between horizontal and vertical quality.

The denominator will be positive

- if: $\varphi_2 = 4 \cdot \varphi_1$
- or: $\varphi_2 > 4 \cdot \varphi_1 \wedge \bar{p} \le \frac{-c_1 \varphi_1 + 4c_2 \varphi_1}{4\varphi \varphi_2}$
- or: $\varphi_2 < 4 \cdot \varphi_1 \wedge \bar{p} \ge \frac{-c_1 \varphi_1 + 4c_2 \varphi_1}{4 \varphi \varphi_2}$ or
- or: $c_2 = \frac{c_1}{4} \wedge \varphi_2 < 4 \cdot \varphi_1 \wedge \bar{p} \ge \frac{-c_1\varphi_1 + 4c_2\varphi_1}{4\varphi \varphi_2}$

 $^{^{20}}$ For the other cases it is impossible to infer results without further math.

In this case a high level of a reimbursement \bar{p} makes the second, fourth and sixth term of the numerator negative. Nevertheless, the whole numerator is positive as long as $a_1 - a_2 < 0$. In consequence $\frac{da_1^*}{dc_1} > 0$ could be assumed.

An increase of the marginal costs c_1 will induce health care provider 1 to reduce his horizontal quality. Additionally, both health care providers will be incited to reduce their vertical quality ((3.12)).

For a change in quality costs φ_1 the following holds:

$$\frac{da_1^*}{d\varphi_1} = \frac{(a_1 - a_2) \cdot (\bar{p} - c_1)\varphi_2}{\varphi_1 \cdot (-4c_2\varphi_1 + \bar{p} \cdot (4\varphi_1 - \varphi_2) + c_1\varphi_2)}$$
(3.23)

The sign of the denominator is still assumed to be positive, as we have outlined above. Hence, following the basic assumption $a_1 - a_2 < 0$ the whole fraction gets negative and $\frac{da_1^*}{d\varphi_1} < 0$ holds.

Higher costs φ_1 will incite health care provider 1 to expand his horizontal quality. Only when health care provider 1 has a large cost advantage in c_i he would accept to converge to the other health care provider. Referring to the optimal value of q^* higher costs φ_0 will directly reduce the health care providers' incentive to increase vertical quality.

When we look at the parameter t we get:

$$\frac{da_1^*}{dt} = \frac{2 \cdot (a_1 - a_2) \cdot (2c_2\varphi_1 - c_1\varphi_2 + \bar{p} \cdot (-2\varphi_1 + \varphi_2))}{t \cdot (-4c_2\varphi_1 + \bar{p} \cdot (4\varphi_1 - \varphi_2) + c_1\varphi_2)}$$
(3.24)

For the denominator the impact of the assumption concerning quality cost will be helpful, too. The numerator will be negative for the range $\frac{\varphi_2}{4} < \varphi_1 < \frac{\varphi_2}{2}$. Hence, the result could be $\frac{da_1^*}{dt} > 0$. The more φ_1 converges to φ_2 the more probable the expected result $\frac{da_1^*}{dt} < 0$ gets. An increase in opportunity costs t will regularly incite health care provider 1 to reduce his horizontal quality, i.e. to increase the differentiation. Only if health care provider 1 has an advantage in the costs for vertical quality $\varphi_1 < \varphi_2$ it could be optimal to expand horizontal quality and reduce differentiation.

3.2.2 Standardization and the Impact on Competition

Up to now we have discussed the case where both health care providers could differentiate horizontal and vertical quality. Now we introduce the idea of a standard for vertical quality. We assume that both health care providers are not able to anticipate this step by the regulator. They are not able to form expectations about the timing, process or nature of the actual regulation and are therefore not able to choose their competition parameters strategically. This is not entirely implausible as things can change quickly in health care systems. For the purpose of this model we assume that the regulator chooses the highest observable level of vertical quality as standard.

The regulator perfectly sees the level of q_1^* and q_2^* and chooses the health care provider with the higher quality. As the UK, Germany and Switzerland require their independent health care providers to document their quality levels, the assumption of an informed regulator is plausible. In the following we assume that health care provider 1 has a higher q_k than health care provider 2^{21} . In addition, we assume that health care provider 1 has lower costs φ_1 than health care provider 2. As a consequence of regulation, health care provider 2 has to accept the level $q_1^* \equiv q_2$ and provide a sub-optimal level of quality from his point of view.

The position of the indifferent patient changes to $h_{Standard}$:

$$h_{Standard} = \frac{a_1 - a_2}{2} \tag{3.25}$$

Both health care providers choose the levels of a_1 and a_2 within the model. The new profit function for the standard leader can be written as:

$$\Pi_1 = (\bar{p} - c_1) \cdot \frac{a_1 + a_2}{2} - \left(\varphi_1 \cdot \frac{q_1^{*2}}{2}\right) - C_1^F$$
(3.26)

Considering the first order condition the following holds:

$$\frac{\partial \Pi_1}{\partial a_1} = \frac{1}{2} \cdot (\bar{p} - c_1) - \varphi_1 \cdot q_1^* \cdot \frac{dq_1^*}{da_1}$$
(3.27)

3.2.3 Impact of Regulation on Health Care Provider 1

For the discussion of the effects on the optimal horizontal quality a_1^* we apply the total differentiation of the first order condition and insert the marginal effects from the second stage. With other words, we assume the optimal level of vertical quality for the quality leader and then look on standardization. As a fist step we analyze the impact of a_2 on a_1 :

$$\frac{da_{1Stand}^*}{da_2} = -\frac{\frac{3 \cdot (\bar{p} - c_1)^2}{4t^2 \cdot (a_1 - a_2)4\varphi_1}}{-\frac{3 \cdot (\bar{p} - c_1)^2}{4t^2 \cdot (a_1 - a_2)4\varphi_1}} = 1$$
(3.28)

²¹We do not analyze the welfare maximizing level of q_k .

The result holds for every level of c_1 and φ_1 . The quality leader has an incentive to reduce the differentiation, provider 1 increases his horizontal quality.

For the impact of c_1 on a_1 the following holds:

$$\frac{da_{1Stand}^*}{dc_1} = -\frac{2 \cdot (a_1 - a_2) \cdot (\bar{p} - c_1 + t^2 (a_1 - a_2)^3 \varphi_1)}{3 \cdot (\bar{p} - c_1)^2}$$
(3.29)

For $\bar{p} < c_1 - t^2 \cdot (a_1 - a_2)^3 \varphi_1$ the third term of the numerator is negative, as the second term is negative per definition we can conclude that $\frac{da_1^*}{dc_1} < 0$. Consequently, a relatively small renumeration reduces the quality leader's incentive to attract more patients through an increase in horizontal quality. In this case an increase in costs induces the quality leader to increase vertical differentiation in order to drive away patients, reduce costs and increase profits.

For $\bar{p} > c_1 + t^2 \cdot (a_1 - a_2)^3 \varphi_1$ a positive impact of c_1 on a_1 increases the incentive to expand the horizontal quality $(\frac{da_1^*}{dc_1} < 0)$. If the profit margin is high enough, higher costs for basic quality provision encourage greater homogeneity from the standard leader's point of view.

Considering the parameter φ_i we get:

$$\frac{da_{1Stand}^*}{d\varphi_1} = \frac{a_1 - a_2}{3\varphi_1} < 0 \tag{3.30}$$

The expression will always be negative if the basic assumption $a_1 - a_2 < 0$ is still valid. A higher cost for the provision of vertical quality reduces the incentive to diminish horizontal differentiation.²²

For the parameter t we get:

$$\frac{da_{1Stand}^*}{dt} = -\frac{2 \cdot (a_1 - a_2)}{3t} > 0 \tag{3.31}$$

The expression will be always positive, if the basic assumptions are still valid. Higher travelling or quality mismatch costs reduce the standard leader's incentive to differentiate horizontally.

3.2.4 Impact of Regulation on Health Care Provider 2

The next equations show the impact of vertical quality regulation on health care provider 2's decision for horizontal quality. He cannot implement his own optimal

²²The following only holds as long as $\varphi_1 \leq \varphi_2$.

vertical quality and therefore we want to elaborate \tilde{a}_2 when \tilde{q}_2 holds. A change in horizontal quality a_1 has the following consequence for the standard follower:

$$\frac{d\tilde{a}_{2Stand}}{d\,a_{1Stand}} = -\frac{\frac{3\cdot(\bar{p}-c_1)2\varphi_2}{4t^2\cdot(a_1-a_2)4\varphi_1^2}}{-\frac{3\cdot(\bar{p}-c_1)2\varphi_2}{4t^2\cdot(a_1-a_2)4\varphi_1^2}} = 1 \tag{3.32}$$

The relationship between an alteration in a_2 is mathematically identical to the one scrutinized before. But we have to keep in mind that the original values for a_1 and a_2 are fundamentally different. In particular, in the non-standardized case a_1 approached zero while a_2 approached one. An increase in the level of a_1 consequently diminishes horizontal differentiation while an increase in the level of a_2 increases it. This leads to the following interpretation of the above equation. In contrast to the quality leader the follower has no incentive to reduce horizontal quality variation, instead, he will try to keep the distance constant by increasing his own horizontal quality when a_1 increases.

Due to regulated vertical quality, competition can only take place through a choice of locations or differences in the scope of treatments. For the standard follower there is c. p. a high incentive to hold the distance in horizontal quality. For the standard leader the opposite is true.

For the production costs c_2 we get:

$$\frac{d\tilde{a}_{2Stand}}{dc_2} = \frac{2t^2(a_1 - a_2)4\varphi_1^2}{3\cdot(\bar{p} - c_1)^2\varphi_2}$$
(3.33)

The sign is definitely negative as long as the basic assumption $a_1 - a_2 < 0$ holds. The impact of c_2 on a_2^* is unambiguous. As we assumed, the standard follower has to bear higher vertical quality costs φ_2 . If there is a rise in the cost for basic health services c_2 , the follower has an incentive to reduce the distance to the standard follower.

For a change in φ_2 the following is valid:

$$\frac{d\tilde{a}_{2Stand}}{d\varphi_2} = \frac{-a_1 + a_2}{3\varphi_2} \tag{3.34}$$

The sign of the numerator is positive due to the basic assumption $(a_1 < a_2)$.

Higher costs for producing vertical quality additionally diminish health care provider 2's profits, and therefore his incentive to attract patients. Instead of increasing the level of competition, he chooses a greater horizontal differentiation from the quality leader to reach the point where his marginal quality costs equal marginal returns.

When we look at t we get:

$$\frac{d\tilde{a}_{2Stand}}{dt} = \frac{2(a_1 - a_2)}{3t}$$
(3.35)

The impact seems to be clear. The numerator is definitely negative, whereas the denominator is always positive. A higher cost parameter t also encourages the standard follower to reduce his horizontal quality.

4 Conclusion and Outlook

We use an extension of a Hotelling-model to analyse the impact of a standardization on horizontal and vertical quality in a regional health care market. In the reference case both health care providers compete in horizontal and vertical quality. Our reference case tells us that the choice of horizontal quality a_i will be made conditionally on optimal vertical quality q_K of the competitor. The success of competing in vertical quality is directly dependent on the comparison of the cost parameters φ_i of both competitors. As sequential profit maximization demands that optimal vertical quality is chosen after horizontal quality is set, an exact determination of the absolute height of the chosen vertical quality is impossible.

In the standardization case, all results hold for the standard leader. But, the standard follower loses control over horizontal and vertical quality as these become dependent on the choices of the standard leader in the horizontal quality case and on the regulator observing the quality leader in the vertical quality case. This leads to a non-optimal level of vertical quality for the standard follower. The follower is either driven out of the market, because he is not able to offer the standard quality as the cost of doing so are prohibitively high for him or he has to accept the quality chosen by the standard leader and make do with probably sub-optimal profits.

Our results are directly related to the assumptions we make for the regional health care market. Especially, we focus on a restricted area of horizontal quality both health care providers are free to choose. For further research it would be interesting to widen our approach by incorporating a more detailed discussion on the scope and level of standardization. Moreover, it could be beneficial to widen the analysis to the demand side where we can discuss some impacts of managed care within a regional health care market.

References

- BREKKE, K. R., R. NUTSCHELER, AND O. R. STAUME (2006): "Quality and Location Choices under Price Regulation," Journal of Economics and Management Strategy, 15, 207–227.
- CALEM, P., AND J. RIZZO (1995): "Competition and Specialization in the Hospital Industry: An Application of Hotelling's Location Model," *Southern Economic Journal*, 61, 1182–1198.
- DRANOVE, D., AND M. SATTERTHWAITE (2000): "The Industrial Organization of Health Care Markets," *Handbook of Health Economics*, 1.
- GAL-OR, E. (1999): "The Profitability of Vertical Mergers between Hospitals and Physician Practices," *Journal of Health Economics*, 18, 623–654.
- GAYNOR, M., AND D. HAAS-WILSON (1998): "Change, Consolation, and Competition in Health Care Markets," *NBER Working Paper*, (6701).
- GAYNOR, M., AND W. VOGT (2000): Handbook of Health Economicsvol. 1 B, chap. Antitrust and Competition in Health Care Markets, pp. 1405–1487. Elsevier Science & Technology.
- GLAZER, J., AND T. MCGUIRE (1993): "Should Physicians be Permitted to "balance bill" patients ?," *Journal of Health Economics*, 11, 239–258.
- GRAVELLE, H. (1999): "Capitation Contracts: Access and Quality," Journal of Health Economics, 18, 315–340.
- HOTELLING, H. (1929): "Stability in Competition," The Economic Journal, 39(153), 41–57.
- MONTEFIORI, M. (2005): "Spatial competition for quality in the market for hospital care," *European Journal of Health Economics*, 6, 131–135.
- NEWHOUSE, J. (1996): "Reimbursing Health Plans and Health Providers: Efficiency in Production versus Selection," *Journal of Economic Literature*, 24, 1236–1263.
- PAULY, M. (1998): "Managed Care, Market Power and Monopsony," *Health Services Research*, 33(5), 1439–1460.
- PFÄHLER, W., AND H. WIESE (2006): Unternehmensstrategien im Wettbewerb. Eine spieltheoretische Analyse. Heidelberg, 2. vollständig bearbeitete edn.

- POPE, G. (1989): "Hospital Nonprice Competition and Medicare Reimburesment," Journal of Health Economics, 8, 147–172.
- ROBINSON, J. C., AND L. CASALINO (1996): "Vertical Integration and Organizational Networks in Health Care," *Health Affairs*, 15(1), 7–22.
- SHY, O. (1995): Industrial Organization. Theory and Applications. The Mit Press, Cambridge.
- TIROLE, J. (1988): The Theory of Industrial Organisation. MIT Press, Cambridge.

A Appendix

A.1 Vertical Quality

The second health care provider has to optimize the following profit function:

$$\Pi_2 = (\bar{p} - c_2) \cdot \left(1 - \left(\frac{q_2 - q_1}{2t(a_1 - a_2)} + \bar{a} \right) \right) - \left(\varphi_2 \cdot \frac{q_2^2}{2} \right) - C_F$$
(A.1)

The first order condition for the profit maximizing quality q_2 is:

$$\frac{\partial \Pi_2}{\partial q_2} = -\frac{\bar{p} - c_2}{2t(a_1 - a_2)} - q_1 \cdot \varphi_2 = 0 \tag{A.2}$$

The optimal level of q_2^* is:

$$q_2^* = \frac{-\bar{p} + c_2}{2t(a_1 - a_2)\varphi_2} \tag{A.3}$$

Using comparative statics we get:

$$\frac{dq_2^*}{da_2} = -\frac{\bar{p} - c_2}{2t(a_1 - a_2)^2 \cdot \varphi_2} \Rightarrow \begin{cases} < 0, if \quad \bar{p} \ge c_2 \\ > 0, if \quad \bar{p} < c_2 \end{cases}$$
(A.4)

$$\frac{dq_2^*}{da_1} = \frac{\bar{p} - c_2}{2t(a_1 - a_2)^2 \cdot \varphi_1} \Rightarrow \begin{cases} > 0, if \quad \bar{p} \ge c_2 \\ < 0, if \quad \bar{p} < c_2 \end{cases}$$
(A.5)

$$\frac{dq_2^*}{dt} = \frac{\bar{p} - c_2}{2t^2 \cdot (a_1 - a_2) \cdot \varphi_2} \Rightarrow \begin{cases} < 0, if \quad \bar{p} \ge c_2 \text{ and } a_1 < a_2 \\ > 0, if \quad \bar{p} < c_2 \text{ and } a_1 < a_2 \end{cases}$$
(A.6)

$$\frac{dq_2^*}{d\bar{p}} = -\frac{1}{2t(a_1 - a_2) \cdot \varphi_2} > 0 \text{ if } a_1 < a_2 \tag{A.7}$$

$$\frac{dq_2^*}{dc_2} = \frac{1}{2t(a_1 - a_2) \cdot \varphi_2} < 0 \tag{A.8}$$

$$\frac{dq_2^*}{d\varphi_2} = -\frac{q_2}{\varphi_1} < 0 \tag{A.9}$$

A.2 Horizontal Quality

For the optimal horizontal quality we insert the optimal values q_1^* and q_2 into the profit function (3.14) und compute in an explicit manner. Because we are looking at a corner solution we get:

$$\frac{\partial \Pi_1}{\partial a_1} = \frac{(-\bar{p} + c_1)^2}{4t^2 \varphi_1 \cdot (a_1 - a_2)^3} + (\bar{p} - c_1) \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\frac{-\bar{p} + c_1}{2t\varphi_1(a_1 - a_2)^2} - \frac{-\bar{p} + c_2}{2t\varphi_1(a_1 - a_2)^2}}{2t(a_1 - a_2)} - \frac{-\frac{-\bar{p} + c_1}{2t\varphi_1(a_1 - a_2)} + \frac{-\bar{p} + c_2}{2t\varphi_1(a_1 - a_2)}}{2t(a_1 - a_2)^2}\right)$$
(A.10)

The whole expression will be negative the less the second addend can compensate the negative impact of the first addend. If there is no difference in vertical quality the second addend will be zero. Hence, the whole expression gets negative. Considering the second derivation we get:

$$\frac{\partial^{2}\Pi_{1}}{\partial a_{1}^{2}} = -\frac{3(-\bar{p}+c_{1})^{2}}{4t^{2}\varphi_{1}\cdot(a_{1}-a_{2})^{4}} + (\bar{p}-c_{1})\cdot \left(\frac{-\frac{-\bar{p}+c_{1}}{2t\varphi_{1}(a_{1}-a_{2})^{3}} + \frac{-\bar{p}+c_{2}}{2t\varphi_{1}(a_{1}-a_{2})^{2}}}{2t(a_{1}-a_{2})} - \frac{\frac{-\bar{p}+c_{1}}{2t\varphi_{1}(a_{1}-a_{2})^{2}} - \frac{-\bar{p}+c_{2}}{2t\varphi_{1}(a_{1}-a_{2})^{2}}}{t\cdot(a_{1}-a_{2})^{2}} + \frac{-\frac{-\bar{p}+c_{1}}{2t\varphi_{1}\cdot(a_{1}-a_{2})} + \frac{-\bar{p}+c_{2}}{2t\varphi_{1}\cdot(a_{1}-a_{2})}}{t(a_{1}-a_{2})^{3}}\right)$$
(A.11)

As the first addend will be always negative and the expression within the brackets encompasses positive as well as negative parts we can assume that the whole formula gets negative considering the assumption done in the first derivative. The result for the optimal choice of a_1 given a_2 can be computed by inserting the optimal values q_1^* and q_2^* into the profit function (3.14) (cf. (A.10)):

$$a_{1}^{*} = a_{2} + \frac{\left(-2t^{4}\bar{p}\varphi_{1}^{3}\varphi_{2}^{2} + 2t^{4}c_{2}\varphi_{1}^{3}\varphi_{2}^{2} + t^{4}\bar{p}\varphi_{1}^{2}\varphi_{2}^{3} - t^{4}c_{1}\varphi_{1}^{2}\varphi_{2}^{3}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}}}{2^{\frac{1}{3}}t^{2}\varphi_{1}\varphi_{2}}$$
(A.12)

As we can see from (A.12) the optimal level of a_1^* depends on a_2 , the other provider's horizontal quality. We are looking at a reaction function $a_1(a_2)$. The corresponding reaction function for health care provider 2 is:

$$a_{2}^{*} = a_{1} + \frac{(-t^{4}\bar{p}^{2}\varphi_{1}^{3}\varphi_{2}^{2} + 2t^{4}\bar{p}c_{2}\varphi_{1}^{3}\varphi_{2}^{2} - t^{4}c_{2}^{2}\varphi_{1}^{3}\varphi_{2}^{2} + 2t_{4}\bar{p}^{2}\varphi_{1}^{2}\varphi_{2}^{3}}{2^{\frac{2}{3}}t^{2}\varphi_{1}\varphi_{2}}$$

$$-\frac{2t^{4}\bar{p}c_{1}\varphi_{1}^{2}\varphi_{2}^{3} - 2t^{4}\bar{p}c_{2}\varphi_{1}^{2}\varphi_{2}^{3} + 2t^{4}c_{1}c_{2}\varphi_{1}^{2}\varphi_{2}^{3})^{\frac{1}{3}}}{2^{\frac{2}{3}}t^{2}\varphi_{1}\varphi_{2}}$$
(A.13)

For the second provider holds:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \Pi_2}{\partial a_2} &= -\frac{\left(-\bar{p}+c_2\right)^2}{4t^2 \varphi_1 \cdot \left(a_1-a_2\right)^3} + \left(\bar{p}-c_2\right) \cdot \\ & \left(-\frac{\frac{-\bar{p}+c_1}{2t\varphi_2(a_1-a_2)^2} + \frac{-\bar{p}+c_2}{2t\varphi_2(a_1-a_2)^2}}{2t\left(a_1-a_2\right)} - \frac{-\frac{-\bar{p}+c_1}{2t\varphi_2(a_1-a_2)} + \frac{-\bar{p}+c_2}{2t\varphi_2(a_1-a_2)}}{2t\left(a_1-a_2\right)^2}\right) \end{aligned}$$

Referring to the result for the first health care provider we can assume that the first derivation will be positive. Using some mathematics we can compute one solution for a_1^* ²³:

$$a_1^* = a_2 + \frac{(-t^4 \varphi^2 \bar{p} - t^4 \varphi^2 c_1 + 2t^4 \varphi^2 c_2)^{\frac{1}{3}}}{2^{\frac{1}{3}} t^2 \varphi}$$
(A.14)

A.3 The Reference Case: Provider 2

For the impact of a_1 on a_2^* holds:

$$\frac{da_2^*}{da_1} = -\frac{-\frac{3 \cdot (\bar{p} - c_2)(-c_2\varphi_1 + \bar{p}(\varphi_1 - 2\varphi_2) + 2c_1\varphi_2)}{4t^2(a_1 - a_2)^4\varphi_1\varphi_2}}{\frac{3 \cdot (\bar{p} - c_2)(-c_2\varphi_1 + \bar{p}(\varphi_1 - 2\varphi_2) + 2c_1\varphi_2)}{4t^2(a_1 - a_2)^4\varphi_1\varphi_2}} = 1$$
(A.15)

As we can see a variation of the level of a_1 will be perfectly equalized by a change in the optimal level of a_2^* .

$$\frac{da_2^*}{d\bar{p}} = \frac{-(2(a_1 - a_2) \cdot (\bar{p}(\varphi_1 - 2\varphi_2) + (c_1 - t^2 \cdot (a_1 - a_2)^3 \varphi_1)\varphi_2 + c_2(-\varphi_1 + \varphi_2)))}{(3(\bar{p} - c_2) \cdot (-c_2\varphi_1 + \bar{p}(\varphi_1 - 2\varphi_2) + 2c_1\varphi_2))}$$
(A.16)

The impact of the regulated price \bar{p} depends on the value of c_i and φ :

- If $c_1 = c_2$ an increase in \bar{p} will expand the horizontal differentiation if $\varphi_1 > 2\varphi_2$. For $\varphi_2 > \frac{1}{2}\varphi_1$ an increase could probably reduce the incentive for more horizontal differentiation.
- If $\varphi_1 = \varphi_2$ and given a low starting level of \bar{p} an increase in \bar{p} would incite Health Provider 2 to reduce horizontal differentiation. Only for high levels of \bar{p} the incentive could be reverse.

 $[\]overline{^{23}}$ There exist two other values which encompasses complex numbers.

• If all cost parameters are different no definite result can be inferred.

$$\frac{da_2^*}{dc_2} = -\frac{2 \cdot (a_1 - a_2) \cdot (c_2\varphi_1 - (c_1 - t^2(a_1 - a_2)^3\varphi_2)\varphi_2 + \bar{p}(-\varphi_1 + \varphi_2))}{3 \cdot (\bar{p} - c_2) \cdot (-c_2\varphi_1 + \bar{p} \cdot (\varphi_1 - 2\varphi_2) + 2c_1\varphi_2)}$$
(A.17)

- If $\varphi_1 = \varphi_2$ holds and the starting level of \bar{p} is low an increase in costs c_2 will induce the Health Care Provider 2 to reduce horizontal differentiation. Only with a high starting level the opposite case can be true.
- If the costs parameters are different no direct result can be inferred.

$$\frac{da_2^*}{d\varphi_2} = \frac{(a_1 - a_2) \cdot (\bar{p} - c_2)\varphi_1}{3\varphi_2 \cdot (-c_2\varphi_1 + \bar{p}(\varphi_1 - 2\varphi_2) + 2c_1\varphi_2)}$$
(A.18)

As the numerator is always negative the sign of the fraction depends on the denominator. If $\bar{p} > \frac{c_2\varphi_1 - 2c_1\varphi_2}{\varphi_1 - 2\varphi_2}$ holds the denominator is positive and higher cost of producing vertical quality would result in smaller scope of horizontal differentiation. The lower the regulated price is the more the Health Care Provider would substitute higher costs for vertical quality with an expansion of horizontal quality.

$$\frac{da_2^*}{dt} = \frac{2 \cdot (a_1 - a_2)}{3t} \tag{A.19}$$

The is result is unambiguous. The more the patient face higher opportunity costs the more the health care provider would reduce his difference to the competitor.

Diskussionspapiere aus dem Institut für Volkswirtschaftslehre der Technischen Universität Ilmenau

- Nr. 15 Kallfass, Hermann H.: Vertikale Verträge und die europäische Wettbewerbspolitik, Oktober 1998. In veränderter Fassung erschienen als: "Vertikale Verträge in der Wettbewerbspolitik der EU", in: Wirtschaft und Wettbewerb, 49. Jg., 1999, S. 225-244.
- Nr. 16 *Steinrücken, Torsten:* Wirtschaftspolitik für offene Kommunikationssysteme -Eine ökonomische Analyse am Beispiel des Internet, März 1999.
- Nr. 17 *Kallfass, Hermann H.:* Strukturwandel im staatlichen Einfluss, April 1999.
- Nr. 18 *Czygan, Marco:* Wohin kann Wettbewerb im Hörfunk führen? Industrieökonomische Analyse des Hörfunksystems der USA und Vergleich mit Deutschland, Dezember 1999.
- Nr. 19 *Kuchinke, Björn:* Sind vor- und vollstationäre Krankenhausleistungen Vertrauensgüter? Eine Analyse von Informationsasymmetrien und deren Bewältigung, September 2000.
- Nr. 20 Steinrücken, Torsten: Der Markt für "politische Zitronen", Februar 2001.
- Nr. 21 *Kuchinke, Björn A.:* Fallpauschalen als zentrales Finanzierungselement für deutsche Krankenhäuser: Eine Beurteilung aus gesundheitsökonomischer Sicht, Februar 2001.
- Nr. 22 *Kallfass, Hermann H.:* Zahlungsunfähige Unternehmen mit irreversiblen Kosten, ihre Fortführungs- und Liquidationswerte, März 2001.
- Nr. 23 *Kallfass, Hermann H.:* Beihilfenkontrolle bei Restrukturierungen und Privatisierungen, April 2001.
- Nr. 24 *Bielig, Andreas:* Property Rights und juristischer Eigentumsbegriff. Leben Ökonomen und Juristen in unterschiedlichen Welten?, Juni 2001.
- Nr. 25 *Sichelstiel, Gerhard:* Theoretische Ansätze zur Erklärung von Ähnlichkeit und Unähnlichkeit in Partnerschaften, Juni 2001.
- Nr. 26 *Bielig, Andreas:* Der "Markt für Naturschutzdienstleistungen". Vertragsnaturschutz auf dem Prüfstand, Juli 2001.
- Nr. 27 *Bielig, Andreas:* Netzeffekte und soziale Gruppenbildung, Januar 2002.
- Nr. 28 *Kuchinke, Björn A.; Schubert, Jens M.:* Europarechtswidrige Beihilfen für öffentliche Krankenhäuser in Deutschland, April 2002.
- Nr. 29 *Bielig, Andreas:* Messung von Nachhaltigkeit durch Nachhaltigkeitsindikatoren, Februar 2003.

- Nr. 30 Steinrücken, Torsten: Die Legitimation staatlicher Aktivität durch vertragstheoretische Argumente: Anmerkungen zur Kritik an der Theorie des Gesellschaftsvertrages, März 2003.
- Nr. 31 Steinrücken, Torsten; Jaenichen, Sebastian: Heterogene Standortqualitäten und Signalstrategien: Ansiedlungsprämien, Werbung und kommunale Leuchtturmpolitik, April 2003.
- Nr. 32 *Steinrücken, Torsten:* Funktioniert ,fairer' Handel? Ökonomische Überlegungen zum alternativen Handel mit Kaffee, Juli 2003.
- Nr. 33 Steinrücken, Torsten; Jaenichen, Sebastian: Die Wiederentdeckung der Zweitwohnsitzsteuer durch die Kommunen - zu Wirkungen und Legitimation aus ökonomischer Sicht, September 2003.
- Nr. 34 Rissiek, Jörg; Kressel, Joachim: New Purchasing & Supply Chain Strategies in the Maintenance, Repair and Overhaul Industry for Commercial Aircraft, September 2003.
- Nr. 35 Steinrücken, Torsten; Jaenichen, Sebastian: Europäische Beihilfekontrolle und Public Utilities - Eine Analyse am Beispiel öffentlicher Vorleistungen für den Luftverkehr, Dezember 2003.
- Nr. 36 *Voigt, Eva; GET UP:* Gründungsbereitschaft und Gründungsqualifizierung Ergebnisse der Studentenbefragung an der TU Ilmenau, April 2004.
- Nr. 37 *Steinrücken, Torsten; Jaenichen, Sebastian:* Levelling the playing field durch staatliche Beihilfen bei differierender Unternehmensmobilität, Mai 2004.
- Nr. 38 *Steinrücken, Torsten; Jaenichen, Sebastian:* Sekundärwirkungen von Unternehmensansiedlungen - Eine Beurteilung staatlicher Aktivität beim Auftreten paretorelevanter Nettoexternalitäten, Juni 2004.
- Nr. 39 *Kallfaβ, Hermann H.:* Wettbewerb auf Märkten für Krankenhausdienstleistungen eine kritische Bestandsaufnahme, Juni 2004.
- Nr. 40 *Engelmann, Sabine:* Internationale Transfers und wohlfahrtsminderndes Wachstum, September 2004.
- Nr. 41 Steinrücken, Torsten; Jaenichen, Sebastian: Zum Einfluss von Ausländern auf die Wirtschaftsleistung von Standorten - Ist Zuwanderung ein Weg aus der ostdeutschen Lethargie?, Oktober 2004.
- Nr. 42 *Steinrücken, Torsten; Jaenichen, Sebastian:* Wer ist wirklich reich? Zu Problemen der Wohlfahrtsmessung durch das Bruttoinlandsprodukt, April 2005.
- Nr. 43 Steinrücken, Torsten; Jaenichen, Sebastian: Wo bleiben die Subventionssteuern?
 Probleme des Beihilfenrechts und ein alternatives Regulierungskonzept, Mai 2005.

- Nr. 44 Jaenichen, Sebastian; Steinrücken, Torsten; Schneider, Lutz: Zu den ökonomischen Wirkungen gesetzlicher Feiertage - Eine Diskussion unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Arbeitszeitpolitik, Juni 2005.
- Nr. 45 *Kuchinke, Björn A.:* Qualitätswettbewerb zwischen deutschen Akutkrankenhäusern unter besonderer Berücksichtigung von DRG und Budgets, Juni 2005.
- Nr. 46 *Kuchinke, Björn A.; Walterscheid, Heike:* Wo steht der Osten? Eine ökonomische Analyse anhand von Wohlfahrts- und Happinessindikatoren, Juni 2005.
- Nr. 47 Kuchinke, Björn A.; Schubert, Jens M.: Staatliche Zahlungen an Krankenhäuser: Eine juristische und ökonomische Einschätzung nach Altmark Trans und der Entscheidung der Kommission vom 13.7.2005, August 2005.
- Nr. 48 Steinrücken, Torsten; Jaenichen, Sebastian: Überkapazitäten zur Absicherung politischer Risiken und Instrumente finanzwirtschaftlicher Gegensteuerung, November 2005.
- Nr. 49 *Jaenichen, Sebastian; Steinrücken, Torsten:* Opel, Thüringen und das Kaspische Meer, Januar 2006.
- Nr. 50 *Kallfaβ, Hermann H.:* Räumlicher Wettbewerb zwischen Allgemeinen Krankenhäusern, Februar 2006.
- Nr. 51 Sickmann, Jörn: Airport Slot Allocation, März 2006.
- Nr. 52 Kallfaβ, Hermann H.; Kuchinke, Björn A.: Die räumliche Marktabgrenzung bei Zusammenschlüssen von Krankenhäusern in den USA und in Deutschland: Eine wettbewerbsökonomische Analyse, April 2006.
- Nr. 53 Bamberger, Eva; Bielig, Andreas: Mehr Beschäftigung mittels weniger Kündigungsschutz? Ökonomische Analyse der Vereinbarungen des Koalitionsvertrages vom 11. 11. 2005, Juni 2006.
- Nr. 54 Jaenichen, Sebastian; Steinrücken, Torsten: Zur Ökonomik von Steuergeschenken - Der Zeitverlauf als Erklärungsansatz für die effektive steuerliche Belastung, Dezember 2006.
- Nr. 55 Jaenichen, Sebastian; Steinrücken, Torsten: Wirkt eine Preisregulierung nur auf den Preis? Anmerkungen zu den Wirkungen einer Preisregulierung auf das Werbevolumen, Mai 2007.
- Nr. 56 Kuchinke, B. A.; Sauerland, D.; Wübker, A.: Determinanten der Wartezeit auf einen Behandlungstermin in deutschen Krankenhäusern - Ergebnisse einer Auswertung neuer Daten, Februar 2008.
- Nr. 57 Wegehenkel, Lothar; Walterscheid, Heike: Rechtsstruktur und Evolution von Wirtschaftssystemen - Pfadabhängigkeit in Richtung Zentralisierung?, Februar 2008.
- Nr. 58 *Steinrücken, Torsten; Jaenichen, Sebastian:* Regulierung und Wohlfahrt in einem Modell mit zwei Aktionsparametern, März 2008.

- Nr. 59 *Lehnert, Ninja M.:* Externe Kosten des Luftverkehrs Ein Überblick über den aktuellen Stand der Diskussion, April 2008.
- Nr. 60 *Walterscheid, Heike:* Reformbedarf etablierter Demokratien im Kontext dezentralisierter Gesellschaftssysteme Grundlegende Hindernisse bei Steuersystemreformen", ... 2008.
- Nr. 61 *Walterscheid, Heike; Wegehenkel, Lothar:* Kostenstruktur, Zahlungsbereitschaft und das Angebot von Mediengütern auf Medienmärkten, Juni 2008.
- Nr. 62 *Walterscheid, Heike; Wegehenkel, Lothar:* Wohlstand der Nationen und handlungsrechtliche Struktur eines Gesellschaftssystems, September 2008.
- Nr. 63 *Dewenter, Ralf; Haucap, Justus; Wenzel, Tobias:* Indirect Network Effects with Two Salop Circles: The Example off the Music Industry, Juni 2009.
- Nr. 64 *Dewenter, Ralf; Jaschinski, Thomas; Wiese, Nadine:* Wettbewerbliche Auswirkungen eines nichtneutralen Internets, Juli 2009.
- Nr. 65 *Dewenter, Ralf; Haucap, Justus; Kuchinke, Björn A.:* Das Glück und Unglück von Studierenden aus Ost- und Westdeutschland: Ergebnisse einer Befragung in Ilmenau, Bochum und Hamburg, Oktober 2009.